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Ewna Snodgrass, September 17, 1980, Pawnee, I l l i n o i s .  

Joyce Reynolds, In te rv iewer .  

Q. My in t e rv i ew today is  wi th  Emma Snodgrass. The d a t e  is Septem- 
be r  17 ,  1980. 

A. Well, we l i v e d  i n  Kansas and we had p r a i r i e  f i r e s .  And one t h a t  
we knew i n  t h e  family--Bruce Doyle was h i s  name--he come running [on 
a pony]. My dad and a neighbor had gone t o  t h e  county s e a t  i n  Kansas 
[with]  a team and wagon. That ' s  what they had i n  them days. 

But f i r s t  of a l l ,  E i leen  [midwife] l ived  wi th  my mother [and] on t h e  
n i n t h  of J u l y  [I8871 t h e  r a t t l e  snakes went through t h e  roof [ t h e  d q ~  
t h e  n a r r a t o r  was born] .  It was a dug ou t  [sod house] and I don ' t  
know what l i g h t s  they had, and I ' v e  wondered and wondered, s i n c e  I 
got  o l d e r .  I d i d n ' t  r e a l i z e  i t  then  when I w a s  younger, b u t  t h e r e  
was s t e p s  t h a t  went down [ t o  t he  sod house] .  I heard them t a lk  about 
how t h e  sheep would g e t  s t randed  i n  t h e  snow and p i l e  i n  t h e r e  [on 
t h e  s t e p s ] .  And then  what a t ime they 'd  have! 

Q. Where were t h e  r a t t l e s n a k e s  a t ?  

A. It was i n  Kansas where I was born. 

Q. You were born what year?  

A. 1887. I don' t  remember i f  i t  was 1886 o r  1887. But I ' m  93 now. 
I guess i t  was 1887. 

Q. You mean 1887. 

A. Well, t h i s  t ime I wasn't  q u i t e  two yea r s  o ld .  My dad and t h i s  
neighbor went t o  t h e  county s e a t ,  and another  neighbor [Bruce 
t h a t  we knew r e a l  well--came on h i s  pony, running t o  t e l l  them t h e r  
was a p r a i r i e  f i r e  coming. He d i d n ' t  s t op ,  bu t  warned t h e  people td  
ge t  ou t  of it. [The f i r e ]  was s o  wide and it was going l i k e  t h a t  1 
[ f a s t  motion]. The p r a i r i e  f i r e s  t h a t  they had the re .  My dad had ' 
drawn out  a b a r r e l  of water  from t h e  branch f o r  my mother t o  wash I 
t h a t  day. She [my mother] was pregnant wi th  my s i s t e r  Sus i e  t h a t ' s  
two yea r s  younger than me.  

When Bruce Doyle come and s a i d  t h e r e  was a p r a i r i e  f i r e  coming, he 
was warning a l l  the people along t h e  line where i t  would go. W e l l ,  
Pa had got him some sows and had them a l l  i n  six pens, and he  got  Ma 
a hundred dozen p u l l e t s  and they had a l i t t l e  house b u i l t  f o r  them. 
I could j u s t  s e e  them t h i n g s  cause Mats t a l d  me s o  much about them. 
She grabbed a shawl and put  i t  around my shoulders .  It [ t h e  p r a i r i  
f i r e ]  was i n  Apr i l .  She went through t h e  barn where they had a 
s t a l l i o n  and a mare t i e d  wi th  h a l t e r s  t o  a manger. She had t h e  
butcher  k n i f e  and she  cu t  them loose .  [It w a s ]  t h e  f i r s t  time t h e  
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s t a l l i o n  had been loose  i n  f i v e  years  and [ l a t e r ]  they found him 
s e v e r a l  miles from home. He got  ou t  of t h e  f i r e .  H e  d i d n ' t  g e t  
burn t  a t  a l l .  But t h e  sows, had t h e i r  noses and t h e i r  ears b u r n t ,  
and some of them they  had t o  k i l l  them, and some of  them l i v e d .  
When Bruce come by he turned them [hog] houses over ,  but  t h e  f i r e  
was s o  c l o s e  it caught them. And t h a t  [ t h e  burned hogs] always d id  
g e t  on my mind. 

Q. Your mother cold you t h a t ?  

A. My mother t o l d  m e  t h a t .  And when she got  t o  t h e  barn door [where] 
my dad had a western saddle  a hanging on a hook, she  saw t h a t  t he  
shawl s h e  put on me was a f i r e .  She had t o  j u s t  drop i t  o f f  and 
l eave  i t  burn i n  o rde r  t o  g e t  me ou t  of t h e  f i r e .  [Then] s h e  went 
t o  t h a t  b a r r e l  [ t o  g e t  wa te r ] .  He [Pa] had a hundred bushe ls  of corn 
p i l e d  up on around the re .  She saved t h a t  corn and saved me, and Pa 
scolded h e r  because she  d i d n ' t  save  t h a t  western saddle .  She t o l d  
him s h e  d i d n ' t  f e e l  one b i t  [bad] about i t .  She done good t o  ge t  
me and t h e  l i v e s t o c k  out .  And I t h i n k  she  did!  

Q. She d i d n ' t  save  the saddle,  bu t  . ' . . 
A.  She went r i g h t  by i t  bu t  she  d i d n ' t  even t h i n k  of i t .  

Q. Well,  I wouldn't  have thought of it e i t h e r .  You were two yea r s  
o ld  when t h i s  happened? 

A.  I was j u s t  two years  o l d  then.  But Ma's t o l d  me s o  much [about 
t h e  f i r e ]  I can j u s t  s e e  i t .  

Q. T e l l  me about your mom and dad. 

A. Then when w e  l e f t  Kansas my s i s t e r  Susie--she was born i n  April-- 
and we came back t o  I l l i n o i s  [Missouri]  when she  was a year  o ld .  

Q. When Sus ie  was one? 

A.  Yes. I don ' t  remember much more, b u t  when my b r o t h e r  E a r l  was 
born, ( laughs)  we took him out  through t h e  k i tchen .  He was born a 
black baby. I got  t h e  glimpse of him and I thought t h a t  t h e  o ld  pac 
peddler--my mother had t o l d  me t h e  pack peddler  brought t h e  babies-- 
had brought u s  a n igger  baby. ( laughs)  The doc tor  ordered him p u t  
i n  a pan wi th  some whiskey i n  i t - - j u s t  hold h i s  head out  and rub him/.- 
his blood hadn ' t  started--and when t h e  blood s t a r t e d  he got a l l  r i g h t .  

Q. You thought you had a black baby! 

A. And he wasn't no b lack  baby. (laughs) But you know then  I was 
g e t t i n g  a way up t o  where I no t i ced  th ings  more. And then r i g h t  on 
down t h e  l i n e  t h e r e  was t e n  of us.  



Emma Snodgrass 

Q. Haw o l d  were you when E a r l  was born? 

A. When E a r l  was born I w a s  about four--1 was alm o e t  f i v e  yea r s  o ld .  

Q. T e l l  me about your mom and dad. Your dad w a s  a farmer? 

A.  Yes, a l l  h i s  l i f e  and a good one too. I f  t h e r e  w a s  ever  a l i t t l e  
patch of woods anywhere i n  t h e  d i s t a n c e ,  he 'd  always c l ean  i t  f o r  
t h e  f i r s t  crop. [And r a i s e ]  a l l  he  could on i t  t h e  f i r s t  time. A 
l o t  of people had them [pa tches  of woods] around their homes. When 
i t  come time t o  t h ra sh ,  he  was always on t h e  s t r aw  pile--making b i g  
money--five d o l l a r s  a day. 

Q.  That was b i g  money! 

A.  Y e s  it was. But nobody else would do i t .  H e  j u s t  put  goggles 
on h i s  eyes, and put  good heavy c l o t h e s  on, and he 'd  j u s t  fo l low 
right along wi th  t h e  th ra sh ing  machine. 

Q. H e  w a s  a hard  worker then ,  wasn't  he? 

A. (nods) We had some hard  times. 

Q. What kind of a woman w a s  your mother? 

A.  My mother was a l i t t l e  woman. She wasn ' t  a s  b i g  a s  you. She 
was s h o r t .  My dad was a b i g  husky man--and n i c e  looking. I ' v e  got  
h i s  p i c t u r e .  H e  was s t i l l  good-looking when he passed away a t  89. 
I don ' t  know, we had l o t s  of s i ckness  and we had l o t s  of t roub le ,  
bu t  we was  always happy. And we never  went t o  bed co ld  o r  hungry! 

Q. Now a l o t  of people can ' t  say  t h a t .  

A.  And t e n  of us .  

Q. There were ten of you . . . e i g h t  children? [ t en  c h i l d r e n ]  

A. Two of them was born a f t e r  I was married. 

Q. T e l l  m e  about t h e  t r i p  from Kansas. 

A.  Prom Kansas back t o  I l l i n o i s ?  We was all so  happy. My dad's 1 
name was W i l l i a m  b u t  my mother always cal led him W i l l .  She says ,  " 
" W i l l ,  I 've s tood  i t  through two b i r t h 6  h e r e  [Kansas] bu t  I don ' t  
want t o  have t o  stand another  one.'' She meant she  wanted t o  go back 
t o  Wal t env i l l e  t o  her people and h e r  home. Of course it wasn ' t  
convenient 
back . . . 
my mother 's 

them days l i k e  it is now. Nothing was. [When] w e  went 
T t h i n k  we waa about nine days i n  a covered wagon. And 
own uncle--and his c h i l d r e n  came wi th  us--he'd l o s t  h i s  

w i fe ,  bu t  he  had an o l d e r  daughter .  They was f o u r  of them. And we 
j u s t  made a p i c n i c  of t h e  whole t r i p .  U s  k i d s  would ge t  out  and we' 
run and play--of course  when we was jogging a long  i n  t h a t  o l d  wagon, 
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we had t o  s i t  s t i l l  and look out--but when i t  stopped we was out  seq ing  
what w e  could see .  

Q. How old were you, Emma? 

A.  Four. 

Q. When you came he re  

A. Well, we came h e r e  

Q. To Pawnee? 

A. Pa come up h e r e  an 

t o  I l l i n o i s ?  

i n  1901. 

d shucked corn  f o r  Uncle W i l l  S i l v e r .  Then he  
came back i n  t h e  win te r .  Le la  was born i n  1900 and i t  was t h e  next  
s p r i n g  t h a t  we come back t o  Walrenvi l le .  

Q. So 1901 you came h e r e  from Kansas? T e l l  me more about t h e  t r i p .  

A. And we s e t t l e d  r i g h t  ou t  he re  a l i t t l e  south  of Pawnee. And we 
l i v e d  t h e r e  j u s t  about a yea r .  Then w e  moved over  by New City and 
we l i v e d  t h e r e  eve r  s i n c e .  

We spen t  two years  i n  Missouri.  That ' s  when we had t h e  'uncle wi th  
us--&en we come back from Kansas. I don ' t  remember too  much about 
t h a t .  I remember i t  just--maybe more from hea r ing  them t a l k  about 
i t--than r e a l l y .  When we went t o  Missouri  1 was fou r .  We j u s t  
s tayed  t w o  years, I had one b r o t h e r ,  Cha r l i e ,  who w a s  born i n  
Missouri--and my sister Sus i e  and me i n  Kansas--and a l l  t h e  rest 
was born i n  I l l i n o i s .  

Q. You had a b i g  family. 

A .  Y e s ,  t e n  of us .  

Q.  T e l l  m e  more about the t r i p .  I understand you d id  a l o t  of 
i n t e r e s t i n g  th ings  on t h e  t r i p .  

A.  Well, w e  had an extra ho r se  along with us i n  case  something 
happened and something d id  happen. unc le ' s  ho r se  kicked him on t h e  
shoulder-and broke h i s  shoulder .  They had them [ t h e  ho r ses ]  t i e d  
too c lose .  They had feed  boxes on the! back of t h e  wagons where they 
f e d  them, This b i g  o l d  ho r se  of Uncle: P h i l l i p '  s--he was mean--he 
d idn ' t  want no horses  nea r  him. And o l d  John got  around a l i t t l e  too  
close--and he kicked him an  t h e  shoulder .  He [the horse]  d i d n ' t  have 
a b i t  of use of t h a t  f o o t  and we had t o  l eave  him, bu t  we had another  
one t o  put i n  t o  come on with .  And w e  brought two cows and twelve j 
l a y i n g  hens. I 

j 

Q. Brought them wi th  you? How d id  they t r a v e l ?  How d i d  you g e t - t h e  
hens t o  go on a wagon? 

I 
i 
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A.  The hens w a s  i n  a coop. When they wanted t o  feed  t h e  horses ,  Pd 
j u s t  took t h a t  coop o f f  and shoved it  under t h e  wagon. It d i d n ' t  1 
bother  anybody. Then he had . . . h i e  two boxes t o  feed his horses  ! 

i n  t o  g ive  them t h e i r  hay. And t h e  chickens s e t  on t h e  ground a l l  
n igh t .  But i n  t h e  daytime--when we stopped--we put t h e  chickens outl 
and they 'd just p ick  a l l  t h e  g ra s s  a l l  around where they could put  
t h e i r  heads out--through t h e  coop you know. The idea  was--my mothem 
wanted them and my dad f i x e d  i t  s o  s h e  could have them. J u s t  as  i f  
they couldn ' t  have bought a few wh i t e  hens when they got  back home. 
They [the hens]  l a i d  r i g h t  along--all  t h a t  t r i p .  

Q. They never stopped lay ing?  

A. No, they d i d n ' t  s t op .  

Q. I c a n ' t  imagine a t r i p  l i k e  t h a t .  I just c a n ' t .  

A. My cousin f r i e d  a s k i l l e t  of bacon--I w e l l  remember this--and she 
took the bacon up and j u s t  pu l led  i t  back. We had fires--and a g r e a t  
b i g  skillet with  an oven that sit tight r i g h t  on there--and we had 
tongs t h a t  reached down on t o p  of t h a t .  [That ' s  how] we'd g e t  o f f  
t h a t  [ s k i l l e t ] .  But s h e  [my cous in]  s e t  he r  s k i l l e t  of bacon o f f  
and fo rgo t  about i t .  She turned around--it had a handle on i t - - t he  
s k i l l e t  did--and she  s tepped on t h a t  and throwed t h a t  grease  up t h e  
back of h e r  leg--and j u s t  made a b l i s t e r  a l l  along. Her daddy scolded 
her and Ma s a i d  h e  shouldn ' t  of scolded her--she d i d n ' t  do i t  on 
purpose, She j u s t  screamed. Then they had q u i t e  a chore t o  d r e s s  
t h a t  l e g  a l l  t h e  rest of t h e  way home. We was about h a l f  way from 
Missouri  t o  Wal tenvi l le .  

Now Wal t env i l l e ' s  i n  Southern I l l i n o i s ?  

Wal t env i l l e ' s  i n  I l l i n o i s .  

The Southern part of I l l i n o i s ?  

That ' s  where my dad and mother was both r a i s e d .  

What was your dad ' s  l a s t  name? 

Adam. 

Adams. W i l l  Adams . 
W i l l i a m  Irah Adams. 

And what was your mother 's name? 

Mary E l l en  Newell. She was never  very wel l .  

She s u r e  had a l o t  of k ids .  That might have been one of t h e  reapons. 
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A .  She d i d n ' t  have time t o  f e e l  good o r  g e t  around and s o  much l i k e  
[some]--only j u s t  t o  have t h e  babies--and then  somebody e l s e  had t o  
h e l p  h e r  t o  t a k e  c a r e  of them. That was me a l o t  of t h e  t ime, becaqse 
I was t h e  o l d e s t  . 
Q. You were t h e  o l d e s t  . 
A. And the youngest one 's  a l i v i n g  now. There is j u s t  four  of us  
l e f t .  There w a s  seven g i r l s  and t h r e e  boys. The boys is a l l  gone. 
There's four  g i r l s  l e f t ,  bu t  none of us i s  worth a hoot!  ( l augh te r )  

Q. T e l l  me about  t h e  boa t  t r i p .  

A.  As we come back from Missouri--at Ches te r ,  I l l inois--we crossed 
t h e  Miss i s s ipp i  River on a steamboat.  We had them two cows wi th  us- 
and one horse.  And I had t o  s t and  i n  t h e  doorway t h a t  went t o  t h e  
works of t h a t  t h i n g  and keep them [ t h e  animals]  back h e r e  on a p lace .  

Q. How d id  you do i t ?  What d id  you keep them back wi th?  

A.  I j u s t  s tood  t h e r e  and had a s t i c k .  That ' s  a l l  I done. 

Q. How o ld  were you then? 

A. W e l l ,  I was about seven. 

Q. And you had t o  keep those  cows back? 

A. I had t o  keep them back wi th  a club.  ( l augh te r )  I was scared  
t o  death.  They just r o l l e d  t h e  wagon on l i k e  i t  was on a br idge .  
And we wasn ' t  t h e  only ones--they was o the r s .  You know, i t ' s  a mi le  
across t h a t  Mississ ippi--at  Ches te r ,  I l l i n o i s .  Have you been down 
the re?  

Q. No, I don ' t  t h i n k  I ever  have. 

A.  You have a i n ' t  you. (granddaughter i n  room) Well, i t ' s  a mi le  
ac ros s  i t  the re .  And t h a t ' s  the way we got from Missouri  t o  I l l i n o i s .  

Q .  And you had t o  watch those cows a11 t h e  way? 

A.  I had t o  watch those  u n t i l  we got  ac ros s  and out  on t h e  road t h e  
o t h e r  way. 

Q. Did your dad farm i n  Wal tenvi l le?  

A. But my mother s t ayed  i n  t h e  boat--in t h e  wagon--she d i d n ' t  ge t  
ou t  of the boa t .  Pa got  o u t ,  bu t  he  d i d n ' t  h e l p  m e  guard them cows 
back. That was my job and I had t o  s t a y  and do it. 

Q. You had t o  work hard ,  d i d n ' t  you? 
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A. Yes, I d i d .  
I 

I 

Q. What were some of t h e  jobs t h a t  you had t o  do when you were li t t / le? 

A. Well, I helped saw t i e  timber--to make bacon with--when w e  l i v e d  
i n  Missouri.  My dad made t i e s  and s o l d  them--twelve c e n t s  a piece-+ 
and he 'd  b r i n g  home a chunk of s a l t  bacon and corn meal. W e  had 
l o t s  of cornbread. I wish I had some of i t  y e t .  

Q. I b e t  i t  t a s t e d  b e t t e r  than  anything we have today. 

A.  Oh, boy. I helped do t h a t  [saw t i e  t imber] .  Ea r l ,  Sus ie  and m e  
sawed it. We'd g e t  a  t r e e  down and then  my dad would work i t  up. 
We'd p u l l  brush and shove i t  back ou t  of h i s  way so he  could go 
r i g h t  on. H e  managed t o  have a  load  every Saturday t o  t ake  t o  Cheyonee-- 
t h a t  was t h e  name of t h e  l i t t l e  town. H e  put them t i e s  o f f  i n t o  t h e  
r iver - - tha t  wasn't  t h e  Mis s i s s ipp i .  m a t  was t h e  name of t h a t  r i v e r ?  
1 c a n ' t  t h i n k  now. But anyhow h e  shoved them t i e s  o f f  i n  t h a t  r i v e r  
and they 'd lashed them toge the r  wi th  wire  and put  them down t h e  l i n e .  

Q. Was t h a t  t h e  S t .  Franc is  River? 

A. S t .  Francis!   hat's r i g h t .   hat's r i g h t !  Y e s ,  t h a t ' s  t h e  
S t .  Franc is  River.  I used t o  sneak out  of bed--go wi th  my dad t o  
h i s  f i s h  hooks--early i n  t h e  morning. He p r e t t y  near  always had a  
good 01' f i s h  on them. 

Q. You'd go out  and check them? 

A. I ' d  go wi th  him when he 'd  go be fo re  time t o  go t o  work. Ma and 
t h e  o t h e r  c h i l d r e n  would be  i n  bed and I ' d  s l i p  out  and fol low Pa. 
I ' d  h e l p  him g e t  t h e  f i s h  o u t .  ( laughs)  

Q. And h e  always had f i s h .  

A. (laughs) One morning we m e t  a mama possum on t h e  way and t h e  dogs 
got ahold of her--and shoot--them possums w a s  a l l  over t h e  p lace .  
She had them i n  he r  pocket.  And I was scared  t o  death.  

Q. Did they k i l l  t h e  . . . 1 I 

A.  Pa picked up one of them l i t t l e  possums-- l i t t le  baby one--and h e  
put  him on a hook. What da you t h i n k  he caught? An e e l  fish--four 
f o o t  long! When he went back t o  t h a t  hook, t h a t ' s  what he  had and 
he  took it home. My mother says ,  " I ' m  n o t  going t o  cook t h a t  th ing .  
It 's a snake." "Why," Pa s ays ,  "it 's an eel, and they t e l l  me i t 's  
r e a l  good ea t ing ."  And la and behold they  s e t t l e d  i t  by--if i t  had 
a  f l a a t  i n  i t  l i k e  o the r  f i s h  do, she 'd  cook i t .  Otherwise she woulf 
not  cook no snake. She cooked that--and she d i d n ' t  have too  much 
lard--she had t o  be spa r ing  wi th  it. But when she  got  t h a t  f i s h  
done, she  had a  teacup ful l - -but  it was yellow--from t h a t  e e l .  It 
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was t h e  f a t t e s t  thing--and t h e  b e s t  f i s h  I ever t a s t e d .  

Q. It was good t o  e a t ?  

A. It was good! And an o l d  man t h a t  l i v e d  t h e r e  t o l d  Pa,  "Don't . 

ever  t u r n  an  e e l  down.'' They're t h e  b e s t  e a t i n g  t h e r e  is." 

Q. I ' d  of never  thought t h a t .  

A. It w a s  black--oh, it was f o u r  feet--but I don ' t  remember how many 
inches around. But I seen  i t .  

Q. W e l l ,  when you got t o  I l l i n o i s  then you w e r e  j u s t  a young g i r l .  
Right?  Your dad farmed i n  Wal tenvi l le?  

A.  Oh, yes,  we s tayed  a t  my a u n t ' s ,  my mother 's on ly  sister, f o r  a 
couple of weeks. He  [Pa]  found him a l i t t l e  [farm]--twenty-five o r  
t h i r t y  a c r e s  then.  He  j u s t  had two ho r ses  and a harness ,  bu t  he got 
a l i t t l e  o ld  plow--and he got  a plowing somehow. 

Q. What d id  you r a i s e  i n  southern  I l l i no i s - - the  same t h i n g  you'd 
r a i s e  up here? 

A.  Now, that makes m e  t h i n k  of i t .  That ' s  unusual.  We r a i s e d  
c a s t o r  beans. 

Q. Castor  beans? 

A.  Castor  beans. You probably never  seen  a f i e l d  of c a s t o r  beans 
and she  (granddaughter) never I know. Well, Pa would have anywhere 
from six t o  t e n  acres--and he  made a b i g  s l e d  wi th  two runners  and 
b races  and he  put a t e n  bushe l  wood box [on t h e  s l e d ] .  You'd g e t  
a l l  k inds  of wooden boxes them days. Now you can ' t  f i n d  one made 
of wood. Well he put  them on--and then he put  s h a f t s  i n  that--and 
he  put Earl on t h e  ho r se  t o  ride--and he put  Sus ie  an one s i d e  of 
t h e  box and me  on t h e  other--to p u l l  them [ c a s t o r  bean] down t o  us  
and c u t  t h e  r i p e  ones,  They d i d n ' t  all r i p e n  a t  once. When they 
come out  they was a l l  b i g  a s  down my thumb. The beans had one ,b ig  
pod and they w a s  l i t t l e  ones a l l  around--and a l i t t l e  bean i n  every 
one. When they  w a s  ready t o  cu t ,  they was dark--and the o t h e r s  w a s  
coming r i g h t  on bes ide  them. Some of then [wauld] be t h a t  long--four 
inches.  But he [Pa] knowed when t o  c u t  them. And then  come t h e  
t roub le .  

Q. What were they used f o r ?  Did you e a t  them? 

A.  NO! They was  deadly poison. 

Q. What were they used f o r ?  

A.  W e  scraped a place on t h e  ground a s  b i g  as this room [twelve by 
fou r t een  f e e t ]  and we put  l i t t l e  s t a k e s  in t h a t .  Pa did. Then w e  
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put--they had r egu la r  bean paper they c a l l e d  it--it was tough paper 
t h a t  moisture d i d n ' t  h u r t .  And we'd put  t h a t  [paper]  c l e a r  around 
there-throw them pods t h a t  was r i p e  i n  that--and pop! pop!--just 
l i k e  popping pop corn. They popped out  when the sun shone on them. 
We had t o  hurry when a r a i n  come up t o  ge t  them i n ,  I t e l l  you. We 
got  a d o l l a r  a bushel  f o r  them. Now imagine, a l l  t h a t  work. I 

Q. What were they used f o r ?  

A.  Why, t o  make c a s t o r  o i l .  ( l augh te r )  And your hands would have 
t h a t  on them and make you s i c k .  I been s i c k  many a t imes from h o t  
sun coming down on you. Now E a r l  had a job t h a t  he had t o  watch. 
He had t o  s t o p  a t  a c e r t a i n  p lace .  They p lan ted  them beans four  
f e e t  a p a r t .  

Q.  They were t h a t  b ig?  

A.  Yes. Now t h a t  w a s  hard  work. Our neighbor r a i s e d  tobacco. 

Q. Tobacco? 

A.  Pa  j u s t  r a i s e d  what he wanted t o  use, but  t h i s  o t h e r  one r a i s e d  
i t  f o r  the market. That was Faye's dad, Marcel la ,  Gene. ( c a l l e d  
granddaughter Marcella) 

Q. Now, tobacco grew down t h e r e  r e a l  good? Down i n  Wal tenvi l le?  

A.  Yes, a l l  around--and he [Gene] had a wagon made. He had a r o u t e  
t h a t  h e  hauled t h i s  [ tobacco]  around. Thank you Marcel la .  ( P h y l l i s  
gave Emma a g l a s s  of water  and she  c a l l e d  h e r  Marcel la)  [T should]  
t e l l  h e r  what I done t o  Pa down in Kansas! 

Q. Go ahead and t e l l  m e  now. 

A. Ma l o s t  h e r  thimble and s h e  l o s t  h e r  th read .  She l o s t  h e r  comb, 
and I don ' t  know what a l l .  She says ,  "I t e l l  you, W i l l ,  them gophers 
is coming i n  t h e  house and g e t t i n g  i t  now." We d i d n ' t  have no screens .  
The doors was wide open. And Pa, on Sunday, was a s i t t i n g  down by 
t h e  house--leaned up r i g h t  on t h e  s t e p .  I don' t  know what they made 
i t  out  o f ,  b u t  they had a s t e p  t o  g e t  up i n  t h e  house. Pa was a 
s i t t i n g  up on t h e  edge of t h a t  and leqning  back. I come a running 
around t h e r e  t o  him and I had something i n  my hand. I ' d  caught a 
grasshopper,  and I wanted t o  put  him away. And t h e r e  was a gopher 
h o l e  r i g h t  t h e r e .  I shoved him i n  t h a t .  Pa seen  me pu t  him in .  He 
says ,  "Ma, would you l i k e  t o  f i n d  your thimble and thread  and s t u f f . "  
"1 s u r e  would!", she  s a i d .  It d i d n ' t  r a i n  much t h e r e  through t h e  
summer. Anyhow, Pa got  the spade and dug it  out .  That was every th ing  
t h a t  was lost! And I ' d  put i t  the re .  I was  j u s t  two yea r s  o ld .  

Q. That was i n  Kansas. 

A.  I n  Kansas--two years  o ld .  
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Q. P h y l l i s  s a i d  t o  a s k  yau [about ]  where you got your shoes t r ings?  
( P h y l l i s  i s  t h e  granddaughter) 

A. Where we got  our  shoes t r ings?  W e l l ,  my dad k i l l e d  dee r s  and we 
eat t h e  meat. I: helped him--we tanned t h e  hides--1 held them h i d e s  
up and my dad took a  k n i f e  and come r i g h t  down [ those ]  deer  sk in  
h ides  and we got our shoes t r ings .  That 's  r i g h t .  

Q. How could you keep t h a t  much meat? You d i d n ' t  have a r e f r i g e r a r p r  
d id  you? 

A. No, w e  d i d n ' t  have no r e f r i g e r a t o r  and we  d i d n ' t  have no f l i e s  
e i t h e r .  You know w e  d i d n ' t  keep i t  [the meat] very long. But i n  
t h e  win te r  t ime,  everybody t h a t  had f i r e p l a c e s  would hang a hind- 
q u a r t e r  r i g h t  a t  t h e  edge of t h a t ,  and theyl.d t u r n  i t  every day. 
Then a l l  you had t o  do was go and s l i c e  i t  down. Boy, i t  w a s  good! 

Q. You j u s t  kept  t u rn ing  i t  around? How many days could you do t h a t ?  
J u s t  keep t u rn ing  i t?  

A.  Well, j u s t  keep t u r n i n g  i t  u n t i l  i t  was a l l  gone. The o u t s i d e  
would be cooked--cut i f  o f f  and t h e  o the r  would s t a r t  cooking. 

Q. It was good e a t i n g ?  ( laughs)  

A. Oh, my God--Old Uncle B i l l y  Osborne--that was my mother 's unc le  
t h a t  l i v e d  down the re .  That ' s  how we happened t o  go t o  Missouri .  
And h e  knowed . . . . He knowed when t o  go dee r  hunting--and where 
t o  go t o  g e t  them-and how t o  handle them a f t e r  you got  them. Pa 
j u s t  f i t t e d  in .  H e  s a i d  Pa was a  good one t o  h e l p  him. 

Q. What e l s e  d i d  you make out  of t h e  h ides  bes ides  shoes t r ings?  

A.  Well, I don ' t  remember t h a t  we made anything.  

Q. J u s t  t h e  shoes t r ings?  

A. Yes, t h a t ' s  a l l  I remember. 

Q. Did your mother make a l l  your cloyhes? 

A. She s u r e  did--with a needle  and tqread .  

Q. Where d i d  s h e  g e t  the ma te r i a l ?  

A. L i t t l e  towns--wherever we stopped. She'd g e t  what she could. 
But my grandmother Adams--that's t o o  f a r  back. 

Q. No, go ahead. T e l l  me.  

A. She l o s t  h e r  husband [ i n ]  t h e  war and she  had eight ch i ld ren .  

Q. The C i v i l  War? 
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A. The C i v i l  War. And h e  had got  pneumonia and died--her husband. 
She had sheep. She w a s  a farmer.  And a f t e r  he died--she had h e r  
o l d e s t  child--Uncle John--Eta h e l p  her]--and s h e  sheared t h a t  wool 
o f f  of those  sheep--and carded it--and spun it--and k n i t t e d  c l o t h e s  
f o r  h e r  c h i l d r e n  ou t  of i t .  Now you t a l k  about something hard.  

Q. Oh, my. 

A.  But, Lord, s h e  j u s t  done it r i g h t  a long.  Pa s a i d  i t  d i d n ' t  bo ther  
h e r  a b i t .  Everybody e l s e  was. When you ' re  i n  Rome you g o t t a  do 
as Rome does. 

Q. ( laughs)  Tha t ' s  t r u e .  That ' s  t r u e .  

A. But now Ma never had much t ime t o  do any of i t .  I f  she  took c a r e  
of h e r  babies  [ t h a t  was a l l  she  could do] .  She had j u s t  a l i t t l e  
tub ,  and a l i t t l e  b i t  of wash wa te r ,  I remember--and t h a t ' s  what 
she 'd  wash them i n .  

Q. My grandma used t o  do t h a t .  

A. I'll betcha.   hat's a long t ime ago. ( t a p e  o f f )  

Q.  Could you t e l l  me about f l y i n g  jennies?  

A.  About what? 

Q. F ly ing  jennies .  I understand you used t o  make them. 

A.  Why, I s u r e  can. Flying  Jenny--you t ake  a sap l ing  about fou r  t o  
s i x  inches  through, and saw around it--and you cu t  down and s p l i t  
them p ieces  off--and l e f t  t h a t  one middle a s t i c k i n g  up on your t r e e  
sprout .  And then  t ake  a board about t e n  f o o t  long--and bo re  a ho le  . 
i n  t h a t ,  and s e t  t h a t  h o l e  r i g h t  down over t he  wood where i t  w a s  cu t l  
o f f .  They'd put some [ ax le ]  grease  on t h a t .  Then they would t ake  
ropes and put ou t  on each end of t h a t  board. A k i d  would get in-- 
and then  I was t h e  biggest--I  had t o  push it .  I ' d  g e t  ahold of i t  
way back he re ,  and p r e t t y  soon I ' d  have them a going way up i n  t h e  
a i r .  [ I ' d ]  get c a l l e d  down [ f o r  i t ] .  I f  they 'd f e l l ,  they 'd a been 
broken. [ I t  would] j u s t  a busted them as f a s t  a s  they was going. 
You'd be su rp r i s ed .  

Q. I ' v e  never  seen  a f l y i n g  jenny. 

A. Well, t h a t ' s  a f l y i n g  Jenny. And I ' l l  t e l l  you . . . I was s o  
much around that--and I b ru i sed  my r i g h t  foo t  on t h a t  pos t  t h e  f l y i ~  
jenny w a s  on. I don' t know where they got  t h e i r  boards but  they ha( 
lumber f o r  anyth ing  around the re .  But anyway, I b ru i sed  my f o o t  an( 
I had a s tone  b r u i s e  on it. 1 had t o  lay i n  bed f o r  a while .  It 
j u s t  c r ipp led  me.  Oh, i t  w a s  a bad one. And Uncle Tom "Petty" 
(nickname) was the re .  What do you suppose he done? He put  cow 
p o u l t i c e s  on my f o o t  t o  draw i t .  
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Q. What's a caw p o u l t i c e ?  
I 

A. Manure. ( l augh te r )  Warm-he'd make t h e  cow g e t  up out  of h e r  I 
warm p lace  where she  was l a y i n g  down. He  had a paddle he made. He'id 

11 s ay ,  El"--he always c a l l e d  my mother El--he'd say "El, get ready,  
I ' m  a coming.'' And he j u s t  s lapped t h a t  r i g h t  on my f o o t  and M a  . . . 
wrapped i t .  T can remember t h a t  w e l l  and good. 

Q. They thought manure would draw out  t h e  h u r t ?  

A. Oh, it d id .  My goodness. 

Q. It d id?  

A. Don't you know t h a t  manure and t h e  i n s i d e  on t h a t  egg-that s t r i t i n  
w i l l  draw a s o r e  t o  a head quicker  than  anything. 

Q. I don' t  t h i n k  I ' m  going t o  do i t .  

A. And when you g e t  a burn--a bad burn--if you can g e t  t o  i t--get 
clay--pure o ld  yel low c l a y  dirt--wet it  and pu t  i t  on there--and 
y o u ' l l  never know you had your burn. 

Q. What d i d  your mother do when you had a f eve r?  O r  something else? 
They couldn ' t  run t o  t h e  d rugs to reeve ry - t ime  they got  s i c k .  

A. N o ,  they  couldn ' t .  They j u s t  had t o  t ake  c a r e  [ o f ]  us w i th  what 
they had. Sometimes we had t o  j u s t  s u f f e r  it ou t .  

Q. What were some of t h e  o the r  home remedies they  had? There j u s t  
wasn ' t  a whole l o t  you could do back then.  

A.  What? 

Q. There wasn't  a whole l o t  you could do. 

A.  No. ( t a p e  o f f )  

Q. What was goose grease? 

A.  W e l l ,  i t  was where you cook a - 

Q. What d id  you use  i t  f o r ?  

goose and have a l o t  of grease  h a t .  

A. Put i n  some tu rpen t ine  and put i.t on your chest: when you had a qold. 

Q. For co lds .  What was something e l s e  that yau used l i k e  t h a t ?  

A. Well, now f o r  f r o s t b i t e ,  my dad always had some mink o i l .  H e  
trapped a l o t .  You know what a mink is?  H e  rendered some l a r d  o u t ,  
of that.  O f  course ,  we d i d n ' t  t a k e  i t  o r  anything l i k e  t h a t .  It . 

i 
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was t e r r i b l e .  But it would t ake  t h e  f r o s t  ou t  i f  you got your hands 
f r o s t b i t ,  o r  your t oes .  They used t o  [ge t  f r o s t  b i t e ]  a l o t  you know. 
We d i d n ' t  have warm shoes. And you put  t h a t  mink o i l  on and i t  helped 
t h a t  r i g h t  away. And t h a t  w a s  old Uncle B i l l y  Osborne's remedy. 

Q. You j u s t  kind of shared  remedies back and f o r t h ?  

A.  Yes. 

Q. And you ' re  how o l d  r i g h t  now? 93? 

A. I was the n i n t h  of Ju ly .  

Q. Ninth of Ju ly .  Those home remedies weren ' t  too bad then.  You're 
looking good! 

A. I f e e l  l i k e  heck though. ( l augh te r )  I don ' t  know how t h a t ' d  
f e e l  I guess, bu t  I hea r  people say  i t .  ( laughs)  

Q. Well, my grandma would have been about your age. 

A. Is she l i v i n g ?  

Q. No, I l o s t  h e r  about f i v e  yea r s  ago. And I s t i l l  m i s s  h e r ,  

A.  Oh. 

Q. Emma, t e l l  me about when you came t o  Pawnee now. You were j u s t  
a young g i r l  weren ' t  you? 

A. I w a s  twelve yea r s  o ld .  

Q. Twelve years  o l d .  And you s e t t l e d  r i g h t  ou t  here .  

A.  Well, now was I twelve yea r s  o ld?  I must have been r i g h t  around 
twelve? 

Q. And you went ou t  on t h e  farm where you're  a t  now? No, over he re?  

A.  South. South of Pawnee. I don ' t  know which way's which here .  
But I know w e  was south  of Pawnee. That guy [who] s o l d  vacuum 
c l eane r s  lived on t h e  farm t h a t  w e  l i v e d  an. Pa worked f o r  Uncle . 
Will the f i r s t  year  t i l l  he could g e t  ahold of a harness  and things 
t o  do his own farming. Then we moved out .  

Q. What made your dad dec ide  t o  l eave  Wal t env i l l e  a r e a  and come up 
t o  Pawnee? What made him decide t h a t ?  

A. Well, we could r a i s e  b e t t e r  c rops  up he re  than we could down 
t h e r e ,  b u t  w e  can't anymore. They had peach trees down t h e r e  and 
they cut them a l l  down--took t h e  stumps out  and p lan ted  it i n  beans 
and wi th  f e r t i l i z e r .  They've got more out  of i t  then  wi th  t h e  
peaches, and i t ' s  l e s s  work. 

I 
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Q. Down south?  

A. Down i n  Wal tenvi l le .  

Q. But h e  thought he could ge t  b e t t e r  c rops  up he re?  

A.  Yes, you could go down t h e r e  and g e t  peaches t h i s  t i m e  of yea r ,  
bu t  no t  anymore. They don' t  hard ly  keep enough f o r  t h e i r  own use. 
[They] break  up every th ing  and sow it i n  beans. 

Q. Where d i d  you go t o  school ,  Emma? 

A.  Well, I went t o  school  i n  Wal tenvi l le .  

Q. When you came up h e r e ,  where d id  you go? 

A. I went t o  t h e  Lone P r a i r i e  School down by Wal tenvi l le .  I don' t  
remember t h e  name of the school  t h a t  we went t o  i n  Missouri .  But 
I do remember how f a r  w e  had t o  walk. It was t h r e e  m i l e s ,  

Q. You had t o  walk? 

A. Over ac ros s  t h e  corner  of t h e  mountains. We was i n  t h e  f o o t h i l l s  
of the Ozarks. 

Q. Oh, t h a t ' s  b e a u t i f u l  down the re .  But what school  d i d  you go t o  
he re  i n  Pawnee? You s t i l l  went t o  school  when you were 1 2  d i d n ' t  y w ?  

A. I was j u s t  a t r y i n g  t o  th ink .  I cannot remember t h a t  one. The 
name of it. 

Q.  L e t ' s  s e e  t h e r e  was Hedge College,  Beaver Dam. There was Lyndora. 

A. W e  only l i v e d  t h e r e  one yea r .  I j u s t  can ' t  remember. Then we 
came back up here .  

Q. Was i t  a one room schoolhouse? 

A. Oh, yes.  

Q. It w a s  around t h i s  a r e a ?  Was i t  t h e  Sanders school? 

A. Oh, I went t o  P leasant  H i l l  schoo4 he re .  

Q. Pleasant Hill school .  1 

A.  Yes, here .  And then when we moved, I went t o  North Cottan Hill. 
And t h a t  was t h e  l a s t  one I went t o .  I never d i d  ga t o  h igh  school .  

Q .  How far d i d  you go? J u s t  l i k e  grade school?  

A.  Yes. 
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Q. And you never got t o  go t o  h igh  school .  

A. No, I never d id  graduate--only just  from grade 

Q. Well, how d id  you spend your teenage yea r s?  

sch 

A. Work, work, work is a l l  I ever  d id .  When we f i r s t  come up here* 
through t h e  summer 1 would work f o r  an o ld  lady ou t  by P leasant  Hil l - -  
and she was t h e  sweetes t  o l d  lady.  [I g o t ]  d o l l a r  a week. 

Q. And you worked a l l  week for a d o l l a r .  What kind of a job was i t ?  
J u s t  he lp ing  keep house? 

A. This  man t h a t  had t h e  tobacco--every c h i l d  w i t h i n  a radius--1'11 
say  t h r e e  miles--had t o  work f o r  him through t h e  season if t h e  worms 
and suckers  got on h i s  tobacco. And we got  twenty-five cen t s  a day 
and our  d inner .  

Q. That was down i n  Wal t env i l l e .  

A.  That ' s  down i n  Wal tenvi l le .  Yes. 

Q. Twenty-five c e n t s  a day, and d inner .  

A. Y e s  and h i s  daughter was t h e  boss  and she  was t h e  sweetes t  thing.  
She j u s t  passed away no t  long ago. She was l i k e  a s i s t e r .  She was 
i n  her nineties. She was a year  o l d e r  than me. l hen ty - f ive  c e n t s  a 
day and I bought me a c o r s e t - - l i t t l e  c o r s e t  wi th  ho le s  i n  i t .  I'll 
never f o r g e t  i t .  Weared i t  Fourth of J u l y  ce l eb ra t ion .  Oh, I was 
proud. I j u s t  thought I was dressed  up. 

Q. Cause you've got a c o r s e t  on? 

A.  Cause I had a c o r s e t .  

Q.  Was i t  comfortable? 

A .  W e l l ,  no t  too. ( laughs)  

Q. Now, when you were a young g i r l  h e r e  i n  Pawnee, d i d  you d a t e  w h ~  
you were a teenager  l i k e  they do today? 

A.  No. 

Q. How d id  you meet your husband? 

A.  A t  a skating pa r ty .  

Q. Ice ska t ing?  

A.  Over a t  t h e  North Cotton H i l l  school .  
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Q. Was i t  i c e  ska t ing?  

A.  I c e  s k a t i n g ,  bu t  I d i d n ' t  s k a t e .  A couple of guys got me out  o~ 
t h e  i c e .  They was going t o  make me. I cou ldn ' t  s t and  up. I never 
d id  l i k e  ice and I wouldn't ska t e .  My sister j u s t  put  them on and 
swish. I j u s t  d i d n ' t  l i k e  them and I couldn ' t  do i t .  I ' d  f a l l  and 
bump myself every t i m e .  My husband and a buddy of h i s  came and 
they 'd been t o  another  p a r t y  up t h e  c reek  farther--over Horse Creek. 
And h e r e  they come and they  scooted down t h e  bank--and h i t  t h e  i c e ,  
sit there and put  their i c e  s k a t e s  on. And t h e s e  two guys, Manuel 
Beam and E m i t  Page, t hey ' r e  both dead now. One was on one s i d e ,  
one was on t h e  o the r .  They was gonna make m e  ska t e .  And I had one 
schoolmate who was just l i k e  me and she d i d n ' t  [ ska t e  e i t h e r ] .  When 
they g a t  me going, they was going t o  ge t  h e r ,  bu t  they  never d id  g e t  
me a going. These boys came and scooted down t h e r e ,  and they come 
r i g h t  ou t  i n  f r o n t  of us. They put  t h e i r  s k a t e s  on a t  t h e  bank, of 
course.  H e  f e l l ;  Bruce d i d .  He s l i pped  and he  put  h i s  f e e t  up and 
he  h i t  m e  r i g h t  t h e r e  (between t h e  eyes) wi th  h i s  s k a t e ,  t h e  sha rp  
corner  of i t ,  and blood s t a r t e d  t o  running. 

Q. Right between t h e  eyes? 

A .  W e  had on g l a s ses .  I d i d n ' t  know him. I ' d  never seen  him before .  
I c a l l e d  him Old Specs. Otto Pape was wi th  him, h i s  buddy, and i t  
wasn't  long u n t i l  w e  w a s  acquainted.  And then  come t o  f i n d  out  we 
moved over by h i s  mother and she  had pneumonia. She got s i c k  and he 
[her  husband] come over and wanted t o  know--if Ma she  had nary a g i r l  
t h a t  she could s p a r e  f o r  a l i t t l e  while .  He s a i d ,  "Sarah's r e a l  s i c k  
and I can ' t  l e ave  her." And l o  and behold, I met Bruce then.  That ' s  
t h e  f i r s t  time af te rward ,  bu t  he  was j u s t  l i k e  a b ro the r .  I worked 
t h e r e  cause th ings  needed t o  be  done e x t r a  over a t  h i s  mom's. E i the r  
him o r  h i s  dad would come a f t e r  me. Hds f a t h e r  gut  down then and he  
was sick a long t i m e  and I helped t a k e  c a r e  of him. H e  was t h e  n i c e s t  
o l d  man. The family was a l l  n i c e ,  but  I never dreamed t h a t  I ' d  ever  
marry Bruce. 

Q.  You d i d n ' t ?  

A.  No, I had a few d a t e s  wi th  h i s  nephew. 

END OF TAPE ONE, SIDE ONE 

Q. You s a i d  . . . 
A.  Be s a i d ,  "You'd better t a l k  t o  Emmsl you r se l f .  She's gonna make 
somebody a good wife. That was Bruce's f a t h e r .  Anyway, then  he  s a i d  
11 No way! I don ' t  want t o  have any hard f e e l i n g s  i n  the family." And 
h e  went an and an, so  f i n a l l y  I ' d  go with both of them t o  p a r t i e s  
r i g h t  around home. So f i n a l l y  Bruce t o l d  me--he s a i d ,  " I ' m  no t  gonna 
i n s i s t .  I don' t  want any hard f e e l i n g s .  But i f  you chooae m e ,  I wapt 
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i t  t o  j u s t  b e  me." He s a i d  t h a t .  And I d i d n ' t  t e l l  him f o r  q u i t e  
a while .  But when I t o l d  W i l l ,  h e  t o l d  m e  he f e l t  mighty bad. 

Q. What was W i l l ' s  last name? 

A.  Deweese. Will Deweese. Well,  from then  on I went wi th  Bruce. 

Q. How o l d  were you when you got  married? 

A. Well, we was married i n  1908. 

Q. Twenty-one? 

A.  Twenty-one. I knowed I was twenty. And 
one, b u t  I wasn ' t  su re .  

I thought i t  was twenty- 

Q. Y e s ,  I j u s t  f i gu red  i t  up. So you d i d n ' t  marry r e a l  young l i k e  
a l o t  of them d id?  

A. No. 

Q. And  hen what d i d  you do when you got  marr ied? Did you have a 
b i g  wedd f ng? 

A. No, we went t o  t h e  courthouse i n  Sp r ing f i e ld  and Judge Murray 
married us a t  fou r  o ' c lock  i n  t h e  evening. That was t h e  day be fo re  
Thanksgiving and we went t o  my home t h a t  n igh t .  The next  day h i s  
f a t h e r  d ied  and h e  had a l l  t h e  chores .  He worked l i k e  a dog on t h e  
farm. H e  had c a t t l e  and hogs. And I went home wi th  him and t h a t  
was i t .  I s tayed  the re .  

Q. Well. 

A.  H e  had two s i s t e r s ,  one was a school  t eache r  and one j u s t  worked 
by t h e  week. They wasn't  home much. But h i s  mother l i v e d  t e n  yea r s  
and I l i v e d  with h e r  and s h e  was a s  good t o  me a s  my own mother. She'd 
always t ake  my s i d e  of anyth ing  i f  m e  and Bruce had a argument. He'd 
say ,  "Oh, they a i n ' t  no use  t o  a rgue  a g a i n s t  women." And he 'd  go on. 
( laughs)  

Q. What were some of t h e  th ings  t h a t  you argued about? What t o  do? 
O r  where t o  go? 

A.  Oh, j u s t  l i t t l e  s i l l y  t h ings  sometimes. We never had any very  
s e r i o u s  arguments. H e  w a s  always good t o  me. I had backed out  on 
him about g e t t i n g  marr ied because I ' d  have t o  go l i v e  wi th  t h r e e  
women and I d i d n ' t  f e e l  maybe we could make it .  And I had s t u d i e d  
i t  ave r  and something t o l d  me when we started up t h e  walk t o  g e t  
married. I s a i d ,  "Bruce," and I stopped. H e  s a i d ,  "What's t h e  
mat te r?"  I s a i d ,  "I don ' t  t h ink  t h a t  we'd b e t t e r  g e t  married now." 
And he said, "Well, why no t?  I 've  got  t h e  l icense ."  Well, t h a t  made 
it seem a l i t t l e  more l i k e  we should,  I guess.  H e  s a i d ,  "I'll t e l l  
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you what I'll do.'' [There] was a l i t t l e  p l ace  f o r  sale--twenty-eight 
a c r e s ,  ad jo in ing  [ h i s  dad's farm]. You could s e e  c l e a r  ac ros s .  "If 
M a  and you c a n ' t  get along,"  he says, "I know t h e  g i r l s  and you can 
cause t h e y ' l l  a l l  be out  and gone, b u t ,  i f  you and Ma don ' t  g e t  along. 
I w i l l  buy t h a t  and w e  w i l l  l i v e  over  t he re .  And Ma and t h e  g i r l s  
can live j u s t  ac ros s  t h e  branch." I n  f a c t ,  t h e  pas tu re  came r i g h t  
up t o  t h e  door. And, 1 ' d  a b e t t e r  took him up cause t h a t  [ t h e  o t h e r  
proper ty]  sold--my land ,  awful h igh  not  t oo  long ago. But he d i d n ' t  
have t o  buy i t  cause we never d id  have t o .  We got a long a l l  r i g h t .  
( t a p e  o f f )  

Q. Now what d i d  you f o r g e t  t o  t e l l  me on t h e  Kansas . . . 
A. W e  had t o  use  cow chips  f o r  f u e l .  Buffalo ch ips .  

Q. Buffalo ch ips?  

A. Buffalo ch ips .  The manure d r i e d  t h e  year  be fo re  where they 'd e a t  
t h e  b u f f a l o  g ra s s .  They had b i g  boxes t o  ge t  ou t  and pick them up 
in. That's what w e  had t o  cook every th ing  wi th .  

Q. Did i t  smel l?  

A. I don ' t  t h i n k  so. I don' t  remember cause I w a s  t oo  young then.  
I guess I heard Ma t a l k  about t h a t  more. She d i d n ' t  l i k e  i t .  The 
day t h a t  she used t h e  water--she d i d n ' t  use  i t  t o  wash with--she used 
i t  t o  save the  corn and a t u f f  t h a t  s h e  had. ( t h ink ing  of p r a i r i e  f i r e )  

Q.  Well, she saved t h e  important t h ings ,  even i f  she  d i d n ' t  save 
t h e  saddle .  

A.  Oh, yes ,  t h a t ' s  r i g h t .  She knowed what was important .  She w a s  
p r e t t y  good i n  them days. 

Q. Tell me about t h e  c i r c u s .  P h y l l i s  s a i d  t h a t  you went t o  l i k e  a 
c i r c u s  and you saw an e lephant  o r  something. Was t h a t  h e r e  i n  Pawnee? 
The c i r c u s ?  

A. I don' t  c a t ch  it. 

Q. When you saw t h e  e lephant?  

A.  Oh, why no we l i v e d  out south  af Pmnee when we saw the  elephant .  
They moved a t  n i g h t  and Pa come and gat us k i d s  up e a r l y  the next  
morning t o  go down and see the elephant's t r a c k s  i n  the dus t  i n  t h e  
road. And i t , l o o k e d  just l i k e  you'd have a g r a i n  sack f u l l  of some- 
thing and set it down and then p i c k  it up. Tha t ' s  what t h a s e  ele- 
phant 's  t r a c k s  looked l i k e .  

Q. Did you a c t u a l l y  g e t  t o  see them then? 

A. Yes. 
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Q. Was i t  a c i r c u s ?  

A.  It was 
s t u f f  l i k e  
e l ephan t s  c 

a c i r c u s  t h a t  landed i n  Pawnee a t  n igh t .  They d i d n ' t  hay 
they got  t h e s e  days. It was  a l l  drawn [by wagons]. The 
.auld walk of course.  They made t h e i r  moves from one 

l i t t l e  town to another  one. 

Q. Do you remember t h e  name of t h e  c i r c u s ?  

A.  No, I don ' t .  I dan ' t  remember t h e  name. Of course,  it  had a 
name and i t  was just  going from one l i t t l e  town t o  another .  

Q. What o t h e r  t h ings  d i d  they have? What d i d  you see a t  t h e  c i r c u s  
then? About t h e  same thing they have today o r  was i t  d i f f e r e n t ?  
Did they have clowns? 

A.  Well, i t  was not much like i t  is today. I haven ' t  seen one r i g h t  
l a t e l y .  But they had funny s ing ing  and everything.  

Q. Do you remember t h e  i c e  s torm of 1912 t h a t  j u s t  f r o z e  everything3 
It was i n  March. March the 20th. 

A.  March t h e  20th. 

Q. 1912. Do you remember? 

A.  Well, now, I don ' t  remember much about t h a t .  

Q. You don ' t  remember the i c e  storm? 

A.  Yea, I remember we had an  awful lot of i c e ,  but  I d i d n ' t  remember 
j u s t  when it  was. 

Q. There were two of them. One was i n  1924 and one was i n  1912. 
Didn't  i t  bother  you much? 

A.  No, no t  them days. 

Q. It sure  bothered us  i n  1978 d i d n ' t  i t ?  

A. And how! (laughs) 

Q. Do you r e c a l l  anything about when the wars came along? 

A. You know Gary Buschon. He's the only one I ever kriowed anything 
about going t o  service. 

Q. Was t h a t  i n  World War I o r  World War I I ?  

A .  Well, I don ' t  know. I t ' s  the last  one. 
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Q. World War 11. 

A. Two. 

Q. Yes. That d i d n ' t  a f f e c t  you much e i t h e r ?  

A. Oh, yes ,  I was worr ied t o  dea th  a l l  t he  t i m e ,  bu t  he never  was 
i n  t h e  b a t t l e .  But he  was gone a t  l e a s t  t h r e e  years .  

Q. Overseas? 

A. Yes, he went everywhere. He s a i d  he  wouldn't t ake  a whole l o t  
f o r  what he learned .  

Q. When was your f i r s t  baby born? 

A. 1913. 

Q. 1913. 

A. Marcella.  Marcella.  Then P h y l l i s ' s  mother. P h y l l i s  is Lorene's 
daughter.  That 's  my second one. Lorene. I j u s t  had the two g i r l s .  

Q. You had two g i r l s ?  

A. Yes. 

Q.  Your mother had so  many c h i l d r e n  and you d i d n ' t  have but  j u s t  tm? 

A.  Some of t h e  g i r l s  only had one. And some of them had e i g h t .  

Q. Yes, w e l l  back i n  t hose  days, Grandma, t h e r e  wasn't  any b i r t h  
c o n t r o l .  You had babies .  

A .  P h y l l i s  seems l i k e  my own c h i l d .  Her mother and daddy separa ted  
and we had P h y l l i s  a l o t .  

Q. Grandma, I ' m  t r y i n g  to t h i n k  when you were a farm wi fe  what  yo^ 

day w a s  like. Did you g e t  up e a r l y  on t h e  farm? 

A. Oh,m 

Q. Well, 
coming t o  

A. Y e s ,  

Lord, yes ,  day l igh t .  Hardly ever found us i n  bed. (la1 

do you remember anyth ing  about Pawnee? Do you remember 
town on Saturday n i g h t ?  

I remember] o ld  Doc Sprague. 

Q. The band l eade r?  And you come up t o  t h e  square? Ta  l i s t e n  t o  
t h e  band? 

A. I remember M r .  Sprague and now what was t h a t  grocery s t o r e  tha t  
was on t h e  corner? What was t h a t  guy's name? Uncle W i l l i s  went uy 
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t h e r e  and he says ,  "Now t h i s  is  an honest. man. H e ' s  gat a b i g  family 
and when he comes f o r  groceries i f  he a i n ' t  got  enough money t o  pay, 
f o r  what he  needs, 1'11 pay it.'' He w a s  real good. But he never 
had t o  pay any. Pa always managed t o  not g e t  more than  h e  had money 
t o  pay fo r .  

Q. People wauld be a  l o t  b e t t e r  o f f  today, i f  they 'd do t h a t .  

A.  Yes, t h a t ' s  r i g h t .  Oh, I don ' t  know what's gonna become of t h e  
people--the young fo lks .  I feel s o r r y  for t he se  l i t t l e  ones t h a t ' s  
coming on. And they don't seem to realize. You can't tell them. 
They won't l i s t e n .  ( te lephone was r ing ing)  

END OF TAPE 


